

EUROCORES Programme

RNAQuality

(Quality of Gene Expression – RNA Surveillance)



European Science Foundation (ESF)

The European Science Foundation (ESF) is an independent, non-governmental organisation, the members of which are 79 national funding agencies, researchperforming agencies, academies and learned societies from 30 countries.

The strength of ESF lies in the influential membership and in its ability to bring together the different domains of European science in order to meet the challenges of the future.

Since its establishment in 1974, ESF, which has its headquarters in Strasbourg with offices in Brussels and Ostend, has assembled a host of organisations that span all disciplines of science, to create a common platform for cross-border cooperation in Europe.

ESF is dedicated to promoting collaboration in scientific research, funding of research and science policy across Europe. Through its activities and instruments ESF has made major contributions to science in a global context. The ESF covers the following scientific domains:

- Humanities
- · Life, Earth and Environmental Sciences
- Medical Sciences
- Physical and Engineering Sciences
- Social Sciences
- Marine Sciences
- Materials Science and Engineering
- Nuclear Physics
- Polar Sciences
- Radio Astronomy
- Space Sciences

Cover Image:

Cover image: Rat hippocampal neurons were cultured until 14 days in vitro and then fixed in PFA. Stau2 (green) and Tubulin (blue) detected by immuno-staining. Phalloidin-staining was used to detect F-actin (red). Lucia Schoderböck, Medical University of Vienna, Austria

ESF Standing Committee for Life, Earth and Environmental Sciences (LESC)

The ESF Standing Committee for Life, Earth and Environmental Sciences (LESC) is one of five disciplinary scientific committees, composed of leading scientists nominated by the Member Organisations. LESC is responsible for identifying scientific priorities, formulating strategies and developing research agenda within its scientific domains.

The Committee aims to better understand biological, environmental and Earth systems across time and space. It covers activities from molecular and systems biology to global change of the environment.

LESC covers the following scientific domains:

- Molecular Biosciences
- Microbiology
- Biological Chemistry
- Agriculture
- Plant and Animal Biology
- Ecology
- Climate Research
- Earth Sciences
- Glaciology
- Oceanography
- Meteorology

Editorial Board

Dr Torben Heick Jensen, Project Leader, University of Aarhus, Denmark Dr Michael A. Kiebler, Project Leader, Medical University of Vienna, Austria Dr Bertrand Séraphin, Project Leader, IGBMC Strasbourg, France Dr Lars V. Kristiansen, LESC Programme Coordinator, ESF, France Ms Anne-Sophie Gablin, LESC Administrator, ESF, France

Contact Details

Lars Kristiansen EUROCORES Programme Coordinator Anne-Sophie Gablin EUROCORES Programme Administrator

www.esf.org/rnaquality

Contents

1. Governing Bodies	2							
1.1 Management Committee	2							
1.2 Scientific Committee1.3 International Review Panel1.4 Funding Organisations								
							1.5 Support Team at the ESF	3
							2. Description of the RNAQuality Programme	4
2.1 Background and Scientific Objectives	4							
2.2 Detailed Description of the Collaborative Research Areas								
2.3 List of Projects								
2.4 EUROCORES Quality Assurance	8							
3. Highlights of the RNAQuality Collaborative Research Projects (CRPs)	10							
3.1 Nuclear RNA surveillance of genome expression: From yeast to mammals (CRP I)	10							
3.2 The role of translational silencing complexes and mRNA degradation factors in RNA localisation in flies and mammals (CRP II)								
3.3 Functional and structural dissection of mechanisms targeting the exosome to cryptic and aberrant RNAs (CRP III)	15							
4. Networking and Dissemination Activities	17							
5. Related ESF Activities	21							
5.1 RNA World: a new frontier in biomedical research	21							
5.2 Frontiers of Functional Genomics (FFG)	21							
6. Conclusions	23							

1. Governing Bodies

1.1 Management Committee

Dr Anna D'Amato National Research Council (CNR), Italy

Mr Wojciech Dziedzic Ms Aneta Pasinska Ministry of Science and Higher Education, Poland

Dr Heidi Elberling Danish Agency for Science, Technology and Innovation, Denmark

Dr Milojka Gindl Austrian Science Research Fund (FWF), Austria

Dr Francesca Grassia Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France

Dr Teresa Karlsson Vetenskapsradet — Swedish Research Council, Sweden

Dr Berthold Neisert Max-Planck-Gesellschaft, Germany

Dr Rosa Rodriguez-Bernabé Ministry of Education and Science (MEC), Spain

Dr Chris St Pourçain Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Council (BBSRC), United Kingdom

1.2 Scientific Committee

Dr Torben Heick Jensen University of Aarhus, Department of Molecular Biology, Denmark

Dr Michael A. Kiebler Medical University of Vienna, Centre for Brain Research, Austria

Dr Bertrand Séraphin Institut de Génétique et de Biologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire (IGBMC), Strasbourg, France

1.3 International Review Panel

Dr Javier Caceres The Medical Research Council, Edinburgh, United Kingdom

Professor Pavel Hozák Institute of Experimental Medicine, Prague, Czech Republic

Professor Ulrike Kutay Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH), Zurich, Switzerland

Professor James L. Manley Columbia University, New York, United States

Professor Michael Meisterernst University of Münster, Germany

Professor Clive Price Lancaster University, United Kingdom

Professor Ger Pruijn University of Nijmegen, The Netherlands

Professor Renée Schroeder University of Vienna, Austria

Dr Gadi Schuster Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel

Dr Mathias Springer CNRS – Institut de Biologie Physico-Chimique, Paris, France

Dr Marc Thiry Liège University, Belgium

Dr Olivier Voinnet CNRS – Institut de Biologie Moléculaire des Plantes, Paris, France

Professor Elmar Wahle Halle University, Germany

1.4 Funding Organisations



Der Wissenschaftsfonds.

Austria: Austrian Science Fund (FWF)



Danish Agency for Science Technology and Innovation

Denmark: Danish National Research Council



France: National Centre for Scientific Research (CNRS)



Germany: Max-Planck-Gesellschaft (MPG)



Italy: National Research Council (CNR)



Poland: Ministry of Science and Higher Education



Spain: Ministry of Education and Science (MEC)



Vetenskapsrådet Sweden: Swedish Research Council (VR)



United Kingdom: Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Council (BBSRC)

1.5 Support Team at the ESF

Life, Earth and Environmental Sciences Unit

- Dr Arja Kallio Head of the LESC Unit (2006-2009)
- Dr Paul Egerton Head of the LESC Unit (2010)
- Dr Astrid Lunkes EUROCORES Coordinator (2006-2009)
- Dr Lars V. Kristiansen EUROCORES Coordinator (2009-2010)
- Ms Jackie McLelland
 EUROCORES Administrator (2006-2009)
- Ms Anne-Sophie Gablin EUROCORES Administrator (2009-2010)

2. Description of the RNAQuality Programme



2.1 Background and Scientific Objectives

Following the successful 2006 theme proposal Quality Control of Gene Expression – RNA Surveillance, the RNAQuality EUROCORES programme was launched by ESF in May 2007. This theme was highly rated by both the ESF Science Advisory Board and the Governing Council in that it proposed a top level multidisciplinary research programme consisting of leading European experts investigating key mechanisms in nuclear RNA surveillance linked to transcription – an area that had only recently been fully recognised as integral to normal cell biology.

Cells have developed multiple systems of quality control to ensure that they operate accurately. This also applies to the biogenesis and metabolism of various classes of RNAs, which only recently have been shown to be subjected to stringent surveillance mechanisms. Gene expression was long thought to be regulated almost exclusively at the transcriptional level. However, the growing realisation that post-transcriptional control provides conserved mechanisms by which cells can rapidly change gene expression patterns, together with the discovery of RNA silencing pathways have greatly stimulated interest in the mechanisms of post-transcriptional gene regulation.

Accumulation of abnormally matured mRNA molecules is detrimental to cells given their interference with normal protein synthesis. Surveillance systems that target erroneous RNA molecules for degradation before irreversible cellular damage can occur have therefore evolved. However, surveillance mechanisms not only monitor RNA biogenesis in order to safeguard cells but are now known to also play a role in the posttranscriptional regulation of wild-type transcripts and the elimination of accidentally damaged molecules.

Post-transcriptional processes (e.g. mRNA processing, nuclear export, localisation, surveillance, silencing and turnover) are interlinked by the use of common factors and constitute a complex regulatory network that contributes to cell-type and organism-specific gene expression programmes. Besides providing the means to regulate gene expression at different levels, these interconnected processes also provide opportunities for quality control checkpoints, so that only fully processed and error-free mRNAs are translated into proteins. In



addition to monitoring mRNA biogenesis, surveillance mechanisms are probably central to eliminating other classes of defective RNAs, including ribosomal RNA (rRNA), transfer RNA (tRNA), small nuclear/nucleolar RNAs (sn/snoRNAs) and cryptic transcripts expressed from intergenic regions.

Although a number of RNA quality control checkpoints in the RNA surveillance pathway have been identified in recent years, the molecular mechanisms behind these checkpoints are still largely unknown. In particular, it is generally unclear how these quality control systems can distinguish between correct and defective RNAs and RNA-protein complexes. Recent studies also indicate that RNA degradation contributes to the stability of the genome by silencing the expression of viruses, transposons and pseudogenes. Moreover, RNA quality control systems are known to modulate clinical manifestations of many genetic disorders, and hence represent promising targets for future therapeutic intervention.

The overarching scientific objective for the RNAQuality programme has been to advance our understanding of processes that act as quality control checkpoints in gene expression and to understand how these are organised at the molecular level. Transcription, processing and degradation of RNA have traditionally been studied as independent processes. During its running period, the RNAQuality programme has initiated a multidisciplinary approach to the topic of RNA biosynthesis that has allowed linkage between molecular/cellular studies of RNA biosynthesis and structural analyses, high-throughput and computational approaches. Through the targeted use of the networking possibilities that is associated with the EUROCORES scheme, the RNAQuality programme has furthermore initiated the establishment of a solid platform for European researchers from all disciplines of modern life sciences to collaborate in the field of RNA quality control.

2.2 Detailed Description of the Collaborating Research Areas

2.2.1. Mechanisms of nuclear RNA surveillance

Recent studies have shown that post-transcriptional control and surveillance of gene expression is based on a unified strategy. Despite the notion that the individual components of RNA processing involve only moderate precision, the high quality of the final output of gene expression (proteins) is probably ensured by the overall elaborate and coordinated RNA surveillance mechanisms.

Eukaryotic RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) transcripts are produced and matured in the nucleus. Major events in the biogenesis of most RNAPII-derived RNAs, including the various steps in 3'end processing and RNP formation, occurs simultaneously during transcription. As these processes occur co-transcriptionally, they are tightly linked to the actual process of transcription. Coupling of the processing-packaging systems with transcription in this way therefore sets up an assembly line with a 'built in' quality control (QC) due to the directly linked availability of enzymes and complexes harbouring the required RNA degradative processes.

RNA surveillance mechanisms are manifested through the physical interaction between processing factors and the carboxyterminal domain (CTD) of Rpb1p, the largest subunit of RNAPII, and via interactions between other parts of the transcription complex and RNP maturation

Homo sapiens

Left: In situ labelling of HIV-1 RNA in U2OS cell. Transcription-site focus and cytoplasmic staining can be seen.

Right: Nucleolar localization of the RNA exosome component RRP6 in U2OS cells (Courtesy of Søren Lykke-Andersen).

Chironomus tentans



factors. Moreover, enzymes and complexes endowed with RNA degradative activity are active players in RNP maturation processes. These complexes actively discriminate between which parts of the transcriptome (or which parts of a transcript) will constitute final mRNA product(s), and which parts will be further be processed and used in gene regulation or be demolished. The tight coupling of RNP formation with transcription increases the efficiency and specificity of this processing-packaging system.

RNA surveillance pathways operate in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus although cytoplasmic RNA surveillance is frequently dependent on prior nuclear events.

Although the principal focus of the present CRP has been on studies of RNAPII-derived transcripts and consequently surveillance of 'conventional' mRNPs, several projects have been focused on studying RNP surveillance aspects of the synthesis of other RNAs; e.g. miRNAs/ siRNAs, CUTs (Cryptic Unstable Transcripts) and IGS (intergenic spacer) transcripts. Further, RNAPII-derived transcripts (e.g. miRNAs/siRNAs, IGS transcripts and perhaps CUTs), in addition to being subject to surveillance themselves, also participate actively as genome surveillance agents by altering chromatin structure and modulating gene expression from specific parts of the genome. Several groups from the present CRP have explored the mechanisms underlying these phenomena, including the overlapping usage of factors involved in multiple RNP surveillance pathways, e.g. the TRAMP and linkage to the exosome complex.

The overall objective for the present CRP was to further our understanding of the mechanisms and rules that govern RNA surveillance in the nucleus. The individual processes of mRNA synthesis, processing, packaging and degradation are relatively well studied but have traditionally been regarded as independent processes. There is now an increasing realisation that these processes are highly integrated. However, the complexity and speed of these reactions in vivo, together with the analytical challenges posed by the multiple alternative fates of many RNAs, requires the development of many approaches. For this to be achieved, the pooling of expertise, ideas, tools and methodologies from different fields is needed.

2.2.2. Mechanisms of RNA translational control

Translational control and silencing of localised mRNAs is a common mechanism for regulating protein expression in specific cellular subdomains. These events have been shown to play an important role in axes formation, asymmetric cell division, cell motility, and neuronal synaptic plasticity.

Localised mRNAs are usually transported in ribonucleoprotein particles (RNPs) and must be translationally repressed until the RNA reaches its final destination. Interestingly, emerging evidence suggests that translational silencing is directly coupled to RNA transport in mammals. At the molecular level, several translation repressor molecules such as Bruno, CPEB, eIF4AIII, FMRP, and ZBP1 have been described as being involved in RNP-associated silencing. In addition, the doublestranded RNA-binding Staufen 1 is a component of dendritic mRNA transport complexes. Moreover, the DEAD-box protein DDX-6, the mammalian homolog of Me31b, is also present in kinesin-associated RNA granules isolated from rat brain.

This CRP started with a very exploratory and provocative hypothesis suggesting that RNA localisation, mRNA degradation and miRNA-mediated translational silencing might be intimately linked. This was partly based on recent high profile work indicating that not only RNA degradation but also translational silencing is coupled to RNA transport in mammals, since noncoding RNAs, such as microRNAs (miRNAs) and longer regulatory RNAs, e.g. BC1, can repress translation of mRNAs during transport. It has been postulated that this miRNA-guided silencing occurs in another class of RNPs, called processing bodies (P-bodies), which are the major sites of mRNA degradation in both invertebrate and vertebrate cells, and that repressed mRNAs can even be released from P-bodies upon specific signals into the cytoplasm for further translation. Furthermore, compelling evidence suggested that small RNAs together with the bound Ago proteins are responsible for substantial mRNA decay in Drosophila S2 cells. This raised the question of whether P-bodies provide a platform for the

transport of translationally repressed RNAs, and function as centres that coordinate degradation, translation and localisation.

2.2.3. Disposal of cryptic and aberrant RNAs

In eukaryotic cells, the large multisubunit complex termed the exosome is the main enzyme responsible for 3'-5' RNA degradation. This enzyme is responsible for the degradation of numerous RNA species including aberrant nuclear RNA species such as CUTs and improperly processed tRNAs, ribosomal RNA and snRNA precursors and unspliced pre-mRNAs in the nucleus. In addition, the exosome is involved in the cytoplasm in degradation of defective mRNA that lack a stop codon, those containing a premature stop codon and those provoking ribosome stalling as well as a fraction of nondefective mRNAs. This rather long list of target molecules emphasises not only the central importance the exosome activity plays for eukaryotic cells but also underlines its major contribution to RNA surveillance. Thus, the exosome is involved in the decay of all major types of RNAs in the nucleus (premRNAs, tRNAs, rRNA, snRNAs) once these have been recognised as defective.

The phylogenetically conserved core of the eukaryotic exosome is assembled from 10 polypeptides, nine of which show similarities to the bacterial PNPase and archaeal exosome while the last subunit, Dis3 (also known as Rrp44) shows a strong similarity to bacterial RNase II. Based on sequence similarities and on enzymatic assays performed with isolated recombinant subunits, all subunits of the core eukaryotic exosome are likely endowed with exonucleolytic activity. Furthermore, more recent studies have demonstrated that the exosome acts exclusively as a hydrolytic enzyme with Dis3 carrying the only catalytic site important for in vivo and in vitro exonuclease activity.

Through its diverse activities the exosome plays a central role in the control of RNA quality. The exosome has to target and degrade aberrant RNAs without attacking functional molecules. This discrimination results in part from the action of factors that will bind and/ or modify biologically relevant substrates and target them to degradation. Such factors include the Trf/Air poly(A) polymerase and Mtr4 DEAD box helicase in the nucleus and the Ski7 GTpase and Ski2/3/8 complex in the cytoplasm. Although the enzymes and factors involved in these pathways are now relatively well known, the mechanisms leading them to selectively degrade aberrant RNA molecules remain unclear.

Thus far, the exosome is the only exonuclease known to contribute to the degradation of all types of aberrant or damaged RNA that eukaryotic cells need to eliminate even if, in some cases, redundant pathways involving other exonucleases have been described. However, despite its ubiquitous involvement in RNA quality control, the structural and mechanistic context allowing the recruitment of exosomes for the selective degradation of defective RNA molecules remains poorly understood. In particular, the function of regulatory factors in targeting and/or activating the exosome to degrade aberrant RNAs remains unclear.

In the present CRP a multidisciplinary study of the role of the exosome in RNA quality control pathways was undertaken. This analysis combined molecular biology and biochemical approaches, native mass spectrometry, structural analyses by electron microscopy and small angle X-ray scattering to provide a structural and functional framework allowing the understanding of the role of the exosome in RNA surveillance.

Facts and Figures

Deadline for Applications: 29 May 2006 **Funded Collaborative Research Projects (CRPs):** Three consisting of 16 Individual Research Projects in 10 different countries.

Duration of Programme: 2007-2010 Budget for research: 3.4 million Euro

2.3 List of Projects

• Nuclear RNA surveillance of genome expression: From yeast to mammals

Torben Heick Jensen (CRP Leader),

Centre for mRNP Biogenesis and Metabolism. Department of Molecular Biology, Aarhus University, Aarhus C, Denmark

Andrès Aguilera,

Departamento de Biologia Molecular, Centro Andaluz de Biologia Molecular y Medicina Regenerativa (CABIMER), Universidad de Sevilla, Sevilla, Spain

Irene Bozzoni,

CNR, Department of Genetics and Molecular Biology, Istituto di Biologia e Patologia Molecolari University of Rome 'La Sapienza', Rome, Italy

Neus Visa,

Department for Molecular Biology and Functional Genomics, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden

Alain Jacquier,

CNRS, Unité de Génétique des Interactions Macromoléculaires, Department of Genomes and Genetics, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France

Domenico Libri,

CNRS, Centre de Génétique Moléculaire, Department of Gene Expression, Gif-Sur-Yvette, France.

Nicholas Proudfoot,

Sir William Dunn School of Pathology, Oxford University, Oxford, UK

David Tollervey,

Wellcome Trust Centre for Cell Biology, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK

• The role of translational silencing complexes and mRNA degradation factors in RNA localisation in flies and mammals

Michael A. Kiebler (CRP Leader), Neuronal Cell Biology, Centre for Brain Research, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Gunter Meister, Max-Planck-Society, Department of RNA Biology, MPI for Biochemistry, Martinsried Germany.

Daniel St Johnston,

Department of Genetics, The Gurdon Institute, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK

• Functional and structural dissection of mechanisms targeting the exosome to cryptic and aberrant RNAs

Bertrand Séraphin (CRP Leader),

Institut de Génétique et de Biologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire (IGBMC), Illkirch, France.

Carol Robinson,

Department of Chemistry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK.

Helen Saibil,

Department of Crystallography, Birkbeck College London, London, UK

Andrzej Dziembowski,

Department of Genetics and Biotechnology, Institute of Biochemistry and Biophysics, Warsaw University, Warsaw, Poland.

Patrice Vachette,

CNRS, Institut de Biochimie et Biophysique Moléculaire et Cellulaire (IBBMC), UMR 8619, Université Paris-sud, Orsay, France.

2.4 EUROCORES Quality Assurance

2.3.1 Theme selection

New and challenging ideas for EUROCORES Programmes are invited from the scientific community through an annual Call for Theme Proposals. In addition to criteria including scientific quality, novelty and feasibility, the proposals are evaluated on the basis of the requirement for European collaboration: why it is necessary to conduct the programme at a European level and how the programme will strengthen and advance Europe's scientific position in a global context. Each proposal is sent for written external assessment to at least three referees. Based on these reviews, the Science Advisory Board (SAB) recommends which themes are to be further developed, a decision which is then ratified by the Governing Council.

2.3.2 Project selection

The peer review of the Collaborative Research Project (CRP) proposals in a EUROCORES programme such as RNAQuality is a multistage process, including the establishment of an international and independent Review Panel (RP). In response to an open Call for Proposals, outline proposals of about three pages are submitted by a team of applicants (minimum three from three different countries). At that stage, the RP is responsible for the sifting of outline proposals prior to the invitation for submission of full proposals. At the full-proposal stage,

each proposal is sent for written external assessments to at least three referees, including referees from outside Europe. Applicants are given an opportunity to reply to the anonymous referee reports. Written referees' assessments and replies by applicants are then considered by the RP with scientific quality being the main selection criterion. The RP makes recommendations for funding of Collaborative Research Projects (CRPs), with prioritisation, which ESF communicates to the EUROCORES Funding Organisations (EFOs).

Following this stringent selection process, three collaborative research programmes (CRPs) were selected for RNAQuality and launched in 2007.

2.3.3 Management Committee

At the time that the Call for Proposals is published, a Management Committee (MC) is established (see page 2 for the RNAQuality MC).

The MC has overall responsibility for the EUROCORES Programme within the guidelines of the EUROCORES Scheme.

The MC can request expert advice from the EUROCORES Scientific Committee, Review Panel or any other ad hoc advisory group.

Members support the EUROCORES review process by nominating a potential Review Panel and external expert referees on behalf of their funding organisation.

Each MC member is responsible for liaising with their funding organisation, including supervision of the funding process for EUROCORES projects within their organisation.

Members may attend all meetings of the EUROCORES programme as observers.

2.3.4 Mid-term and Final Reviews

Each EUROCORES programme undergoes two reviews to evaluate its progress at the mid- and final stages. The aim is to assess scientific cooperation and interactions among the investigators and in the case of a mid-term review to:

- examine the merits of the EUROCORES programme and its potential
- provide recommendations for the second part of the programme

and in a final review to:

• examine the merits of the EUROCORES programme and the lessons there are to be learned for potential follow-up initiatives.

The programme is assessed using the following criteria:

- Novelty/Originality: The most innovative/original scientific contribution of each CRP to the programme and to the relevant field of research.
- Multidisciplinary research: How each CRP is working

towards (or achieving) multidisciplinary research.

- Collaborative research: Results obtained within the CRP during this reporting period that would not have been achieved (or would have taken longer to achieve) in an individual project.
- European-added value: The European dimension given to national funding (e.g. building up the ERA; developing a critical mass of expertise; addressing issues of scale and scope). For CRPs involving partners outside Europe: a clear example illustrating their added value to the programme and their contribution to the relevant field of research in Europe.
- Relevance to the Call: Achievement most relevant to the Call.

The RNAQuality programme received overall very positive mid-term and final evaluations. The consensus mid-term report applauded the programme for bringing together a 'particularly innovative and active group of scientists'. The achievements that were particularly highlighted in the mid-term and final reports included the impressive high level of inter- and intra-CRP collaboration as demonstrated in several joint CRP publications and the overall impressive list of papers in highly ranked journals.

The programme was particularly lauded for its excellent use of research training opportunities for the associated young trainees, which involved exchange visits, schools and workshops dedicated to graduate student interaction. Further, the general focus on collaboration with open exchange of information was mentioned in these reports.

2.3.5 EUROCORES acknowledgements

To promote the EUROCORES programme and the national funding organisations who support it (and prior to 2008, the European Commission), all publications, posters, websites and other dissemination outputs are required to be clearly identified as being programmefunded or co-funded. This is an important indicator for monitoring the outputs of the programmes, particularly peer-reviewed publications.

3. Highlights of the RNAQuality Collaborative Research Projects (CRPs)

3.1 Nuclear RNA surveillance of genome expression: From yeast to mammals (CRP I)

Principal Investigators

Torben Heick Jensen (Project Leader) University of Aarhus, Denmark Andrès Aguilera University of Seville, Spain Irene Bozzoni CNR-IBPM, University of Rome 'La Sapienza', Italy Alain Jacquier (Co-PI) Institut Pasteur, Paris, France Domenico Libri GM - CNRS, Gif-sur-Yvette, France **Nicholas Proudfoot** Oxford University, United Kingdom **David Tollervey** University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom Neus Visa Stockholm University, Sweden

Funding Organisations

Denmark: Forskningsrådet for Natur og Univers (FNU) **France:** Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS)

Italy: Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (CNR) United Kingdom: Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BBSRC) Spain: Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia (MEC) Sweden: Vetenskapsrådet – medicine (VR)

The objective of the collaborative work within this CRP was to study the mechanisms and rules governing RNA surveillance in the nucleus, about which relatively little is known. The individual processes of mRNA synthesis, processing, packaging and degradation are relatively well studied, but have traditionally been regarded as independent processes. There is now an increasing realisation that these processes are highly integrated. However, the complexity and speed of these reactions in vivo, together with the analytical challenges posed by the multiple alternative fates of many RNAs, represent new frontiers that require multidisciplinary collaboration and development of new scientific tools to be investigated.

The eight participating labs have collectively addressed six related research areas that overall corresponded to the objective of the CRP outlined initially. These involved:

1. Characterisation of factors involved in nuclear surveillance

The Tollervey and Jacquier labs used genetic approaches to identify the in vivo substrates for TRAMP



and Mpp6p, two recently identified exosome cofactors, using a genomic scale approach in yeast. Furthermore, the Libri team studied the mechanistic aspects of TRAMP function and comparative functional studies on the mammalian TRAMP were carried out by the Bozzoni lab. The Visa lab carried out localisation studies in the Balbiani ring (BR) system of Chironomus tentans and the Visa and Bozzoni teams used biochemical approaches in *Drosophila* and human cells, to identify nuclear exosome subpopulations with specific composition and/or substrate specificity.

2. Surveillance of aberrant RNP formation

The THO/Sub2p complex is a good model system in which to study quality control. The Jensen lab has used this system to focus on the links between 3'end processing and QC and its sensitivity to mutations in specific areas of the THO/Sub2p system. The initial pre-mRNA processing assays were followed by biochemical characterisation of the composition of 3'end processing complexes and in vivo analysis in collaboration with the Libri lab (see below). In parallel, the Aguilera lab in collaboration with the Jensen and Proudfoot labs carried out a search for synthetic lethal mutations for rrp6 and rna14, thereby characterising the transcription properties of the mutants both in vivo and in vitro. Further, the Aguilera lab randomly mutagenised selected components of the THO and found mutations that separate the putative functions of THO in transcription and surveillance. Complementing these assays, the Libri lab carried out chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) and microarray experiments to characterise chromatin defects related to THO function.

The Jacquier lab analysed how different mutations in the mRNP processing/assembly machineries affect nuclear retention and degradation on a genomic scale. Using studies in yeast and insects systems, disturbances in the recruitment of THO components to nascent transcripts in different mutant backgrounds was analysed using immunofluorescence and FISH by the Aguilera, Jensen and Libri labs (each lab using different reporters and endogenous genes). Further, the effects of THO depletion and overexpression in human cells was analysed in collaboration between the Aguilera and the Bozzoni labs.

The Bozzoni group additionally undertook studies aimed at understanding the loading of processing factors onto the miRNAs and the packaging of miRNAs into functional miRNP complexes. This project aims at identifying surveillance checkpoints able to sense aberrant miRNP assembly.

3. Surveillance of transcription termination

To further understand the termination process, the Proudfoot lab investigated whether recently identified co-transcriptional cleavage (CoTC) sequences in RNAPII termination regions of protein-coding genes are potential entry sites for exonucleases such as the exosome and Xrn2.

In parallel studies, the Bozzoni group analysed the involvement of hXrn2 in transcriptional termination of miRNA genes and worked on characterisation of the factors involved in the processing of primiRNAs and in surveillance of miRNA biogenesis, with particular focus on the study of 3'end cleavage and on the importance of the cleavage site for correct miRNP assembly.

4. Surveillance of cryptic transcription

Cryptic Unstable Transcripts (CUTs) display half-lives of less than two minutes, whereas other types of noncoding transcripts derived from RNAPII are stable. The Libri lab has identified a CUT sequence element that targets RNA to degradation through a mechanism that requires the Nrd1 and Nab3 proteins. With a combination of genome-wide in silico analyses and experimental validation, the Libri and Jacquier labs have studied the coupling between Nrd1p/Nab3p termination and the exosome by generating a 'preterminated' RNA and assessing whether it is degraded in a Nrd1p/Nab3-sensitive manner. Additionally, the recruitment of surveillance factors to non-coding RNAs was studied in the Libri and Tollervey labs using ChIP to study the co-transcriptional recruitment of Nrd1p/Nab3, TRAMP and exosome to different types of cryptic transcripts.

Factors involved in CUT surveillance and how mutations in these affect the nuclear retention and/or degradation of CUTs were studied in the Jacquier lab. This work helped identify functional interactions between the different steps of CUT biogenesis and surveillance.

5. Identification of new surveillance pathways The Jacquier lab analysed functional interactions

between different steps of RNA maturation and surveillance pathways by applying a new genetic method for quantitative analysis on a genomic scale. Specific pathways components were identified and further analysed by the Jacquier lab in collaboration with the Libri, Tollervey, and Jensen teams.

In a search for surveillance pathways linked to RNAPII, the Jensen lab identified rpb1p mutations associated with mRNA nuclear retention phenotypes. Following these discoveries genetic methods were applied to characterise the defects of the rpb1p mutants and in collaboration with the Jacquier lab, these were tested for genetic interactions on a genomic scale.

6. Functional relationships between surveillance pathways and chromatin status

Based on the observation that the levels of noncoding RNAs associated with silenced chromatin are elevated in cells defective in components of the TRAMP/exosome system, the Proudfoot lab studied the synthesis of intergenic transcripts which may act as substrates for siRNA production. Supporting this work, the Tollervey lab used ChIP to study the recruitment of TRAMP and exosome to IGS transcripts, and tested candidate RNA-binding factors. To assess the requirement for the TRAMP/exosome system in repressive chromatin formation, de-repression of reporter constructs integrated in either the rDNA ISG or sub-telomeric region was furthermore evaluated. In parallel experiments, the Tollervey lab also studied interactions between Trf4p and condensin in collaboration with the Jacquier lab, and investigated how TRAMP might be involved in the release and degradation of nascent pre-rRNAs at stalled replication forks.



Figure 2. Nuclear RNA surveillance processes are often coupled to the act of gene transcription. A schematic view of this concept is presented above. Layout courtesy of Ebbe Sloth Andersen.

Expressed opinion by the scientists in CRP I

The international linkage of the CRP has been of tremendous value in that it has brought together a critical mass of researchers with related but distinct research foci. Thus, CRP cooperation has greatly increased the quality of research within the group.

Networking within the programme provided strong synergistic effects and strongly helped to further establish the European teams as world leaders in the field. The RNA Quality programme has played an important role in stimulating and coordinating Europe-wide research into an important and rapidly evolving field of research. These networks, in which groups are free to develop the best research and collaborative projects, are highly preferred over the traditional, EU-funded networks in which a rigid, administrative interpretation of the programme can inhibit the development of new ideas and innovations.

Numerous collaborative projects will continue beyond the formal termination the programme.

Selected Publications

- Submitted/under revision
- Cacchiarelli D, Martone J, Girardi E, Cesana M, Incitti T, Nicoletti C, Santini T, Sthandier O, Auricchio A, Musarò A and **Bozzoni I**. Dystrophin-dependent epigenetic reprogramming of muscle miRNA expression, submitted.
- Camblong J, S-M Tan Wong, JB Zaugg, Z Xu, NM Luscombe, LM Steinmetz, and NJ Proudfoot . Gene loops promote transcription fidelity. *Nature*, under revision
- Domínguez-Sánchez M, Sáez C, Japón MA, **Aguilera A** and Luna R. Differential expression of THOC1 and ALY mRNP biogenesis/export factors in human cancers. Under revision.
- Eberle AB, Hessle V, Helbig R, Dantoft W, Gimber N, **Visa N**. Splice-site mutations cause Rrp6-mediated nuclear retention of the unspliced RNAs and transcriptional downregulation of the splicing-defective genes. Under revision.
- Gullerova M, Moazed D, **Proudfoot NJ.** Convergent orientation of RNA interference genes autoregulates fission yeast heterochromatin. *Nature*, under review
- Mapendano CK, Lykke-Andersen S, Kjems J, Bertrand E and **Jensen TH.** Crosstalk between mRNA 3'end processing and transcription initiation. *Mol. Cell* (2010), revised manuscript in review.
- Silverstein RA, González de Valdivia E, **Visa N**. The incorporation of 5-fluorouracil into RNA affects the ribonucleolytic activity of the exosome subunit Rrp6. Under revision.
- Wijayatilake H, Tan Wong S-M, **Proudfoot NJ.** Promoter retention and polymerase pausing mediate intra-genic looping during mammalian transcription. *Nature SMB*, under revision.

• 2011

Mischo HB, Gomez Gonzales, Rondon AG, Wei W, Steinmetz LM, Aguilera A, **Proudfoot NJ.** Yeast Sen1 helicase protects the genome from transcription associated instability. *Mol. Cell.*

• 2010

- Anastasiadou E, Boccellato F, Vincenti S, Rosato P, Bozzoni I, Frati L, Faggioni A, Presutti C, Trivedi P. (2010) Epstein-Barr virus encoded LMP1 downregulates TCL1 oncogene through miR-29b. Oncogene, 29:1316-28.
- Jimeno S and **Aguilera A**. (2010). The THO complex as a key mRNP biogénesis factor in development and cell differentiation. *J. Biol.*, 9:4.
- Chiaretti S, Messina M, Tavolaro S, Zardo G, Elia L, Vitale A, Fatica A, Gorello P, Piciocchi A, Scappucci G, **Bozzoni** I, Fozza C, Candoni A, Guarini A, Foa' R. (2010). Gene expression profiling identifies a subset of adult T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL) with myeloidlike gene features and overexpression of miR-223. *Haematologica*, in press.
- El Hage A, French SL, Beyer AL. and **Tollervey D**. (2010). Loss of Topoisomerase I leads to R-loop-mediated transcriptional blocks during ribosomal RNA synthesis. *Genes Dev.*, in press.
- Fatica A and **Bozzoni I** (2010). Role of microRNAs in hematological malignancies, *Expert Review Hematol.* 2(4), in press.
- Granneman S, Petfalski E, Swiatkowska A and **Tollervey, D** (2010). Cracking Pre-40S Ribosomal Subunit Structure by Systematic Analyses of RNA-Protein Cross-linking. *EMBO J.*, in press.
- Incitti T, De Angelis FG, Cazzella V, Sthandier O, Pinnarò C, Legnini I and Bozzoni I (2010). Exon skipping and Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy therapy: selection of the most active U1 snRNA-antisense able to induce dystrophin exon 51. *Mol. Ther.*, in press.
- Jimeno-Gonzalez S, Haaning LL, Malagon F and Jensen TH. (2010). The yeast 5'-3' exonuclease Rat1p functions during transcription elongation by RNA polymerase II. *Mol. Cell*, 39(4):580-7.
- Kos M. and **Tollervey** D (2010). Yeast Pre-rRNA Processing and Modification Occur Cotranscriptionally. *Mol. Cell*, 39 (5):809-20.
- Rafal Tomecki R, Kristiansen MS, Lykke-Andersen S, Chlebowski A, Larsen KM, Szczesny RJ, Drazkowska K, Pastula A, Andersen JS, Stepien PP, **Dziembowski** A.and **Jensen TH** (2010). The human core exosome binds to differentially localised processive ribonucleases: hDIS3 and hDIS3L: *EMBO J.*, in press.
- Rinaldi A, Vincenti S, De Vito F, **Bozzoni I**, Oliverio A, Presutti C, Fragapane P, Mele A (2010). Stress induces region specific alterations in microRNAs expression in mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 208:265-9.
- Thomson E and **Tollervey D** (2010). The final step in 5.8S rRNA processing is cytoplasmic in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Cell. Biology*, 30:976-984.

• 2009

Ballarino M, Pagano F, Girardi E, Cacchiarelli D, Morlando M, Proudfoot NJ, Bozzoni I (2009). Coupled RNA processing and transcription of intergenic primary miRNAs, *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 29:5632-8.

- Bohnsack MT, Martin R, Granneman S, Ruprecht M, Schleiff E, **Tollervey D** (2009). Prp43 bound at different sites on the pre-rRNA performs distinct functions in ribosome synthesis. *Mol. Cell*, 36 (4):583-92.
- Luna R, González-Aguilera C and **Aguilera A** (2009). Transcription at the proximity of the nuclear pore. *RNA Biology*, 6:145-8.
- Preker P, Nielsen J, Schierup M, **Jensen TH** (2009). RNA polymerase plays both sides: Vivid and bidirectional transcription around and upstream of active promoters. *Cell Cycle*, 8(8):1106-7
- Saguez C and **Jensen TH** (2009). Assembly of exportcompetent mRNP: It's all about being connected. *Mol. Cell*, 36(1):139-40.
- De Marchis ML, Ballarino M, Salvatori B, Puzzolo MC, **Bozzoni I,** Fatica A (2009). A new molecular network comprising PU.1, interferon regulatory factor proteins and miR-342 stimulates ATRA-mediated granulocytic differentiation of Acute Promyelocitic Leukemia cells. *Leukemia*, 23:856-62.
- Lykke-Andersen S, Brodersen D and **Jensen TH** (2009). Origins and activities of the eukaryotic exosome. *J. Cell Science* 122(10):1487-94.
- Eberle AB, Lykke-Andersen S, Mühlemann O, Jensen TH (2009). SMG6 promotes endonucleolytic cleavage of nonsense mRNA in human cells. *Nature Struct.& Mol. Biol.* 16(1):49-55.
- Faza MB, Kemmler S, Jimeno S, González-Aguilera C, Aguilera A, Hurt E, Panse VG (2009). Sem1 is a functional component of the nuclear pore complex-associated messenger RNA export machinery. J. Cell. Biol., 184(6):833-46.
- Ferretti E, De Smaele E, Po A, Di Marcotullio L, Tosi E, Espinola MS, Di Rocco C, Riccardi R, Giangaspero F, Farcomeni A, Nofroni I, Laneve P, Gioia U, Caffarelli E, **Bozzoni I**, Screpanti I, Gulino A (2009). MicroRNA profiling in human medulloblastoma, *Int. J. Cancer*, 124:568-77.
- Gaillard H, Tous C, Botet J, González-Aguilera C, Quintero MJ, Viladevall L, García-Rubio ML, Rodríguez-Gil A, Marín A, Ariño J, Revuelta JL, Chávez S, **Aguilera A** (2009). Genome-wide analysis of factors affecting transcription elongation and DNA repair: a new role for PAF and Ccr4not in transcription-coupled repair. *PLoS Genet*. Feb., 5(2):e1000364.
- Granneman S, Kudla G, Petfalski E, **Tollervey D** (2009). Identification of protein binding sites on U3 snoRNA and pre-rRNA by UV cross-linking and high throughput analysis of cDNAs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 106:9613-818.
- Hessle V, Björk P, Sokolowski M, González de Valdivia E, Silverstein R, Artemenko K, Tyagi A, Maddalo G, Ilag L, Helbig R, Zubarev RA, Visa N (2009). The exosome associates co-transcriptionally with the nascent premRNP through interactions with heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins. *Mol. Biol. Cell*, 20:3459-70.
- Houseley J. and **Tollervey D** (2009). The many pathways of RNA degradation. *Cell*, 136:763-76.
- Jacquier A (2009). The complex eukaryotic transcriptome: unexpected pervasive transcription and novel small RNAs. *Nature. Rev. Genet*, 10:833-44.
- Kudla G, Murray AW, **Tollervey D**, Plotkin JB (2009). Coding sequence determinants of gene expression in *Escherichia*

coli. Science, 324:255-8.

- Neil H, Malabat C, d'Aubenton-Carafa Y, Xu Z, Steinmetz LM, Jacquier A (2009). Widespread bidirectional promoters are the major source of cryptic transcripts in yeast. *Nature*, 457:1038-42.
- Oeffinger M, Zenklusen D, Ferguson A, Wei KE, El Hage A, Tollervey D, Chait BT, Singer RH, Rout MP (2009). Rrp17p defines a new family of eukaryotic exonucleases required for 5'end processing of pre-60S ribosomal RNA. *Mol. Cell*, 36:768-81.
- Perálvarez-Marín A, Mateos L, Zhang C, Singh S, Cedazo-Mínguez A, Visa N, Morozova-Roche L, Gräslund A, Barth A (2009). Influence of residue 22 on the folding, aggregation profile, and toxicity of the Alzheimer's amyloid beta peptide. *Biophys.J.* 97:277-85.
- Pertschy P, Schneider C, Gnädig M, Schäfer T, **Tollervey D**, Hurt E (2009). RNA helicase Prp43 and its co-factor Pfa1 promote 20S to 18S rRNA processing catalyzed by the endonuclease Nob1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284:35079-91.
- Puttini S, Lekka M, Dorchies OM, Saugy D, Incitti T, Ruegg UT, **Bozzoni I**, Kulik AJ, Mermod N (2009). Genemediated restoration of normal myofiber elasticity in dystrophic muscles. *Mol. Ther.*, 17:19-25.
- Qu X, Lykke-Andersen S, Nasser T, Saguez C, Bertrand E, Jensen TH, Moore C (2009). Assembly of an exportcompetent mRNP is needed for efficient release of the 3'end processing complex after polyadenylation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 29(19):5327-38.
- Schneider C, Leung E, Brown J, **Tollervey D** (2009). The N-terminal PIN domain of the exosome subunit Rrp44 harbors endonuclease activity and tethers Rrp44 to the yeast core exosome. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 37:1127-40.
- Skruzny M, Schneider C, Racz A, Weng J, **Tollervey D**, Hurt E (2009). An endoribonuclease functionally linked to perinuclear mRNP quality control associates with the nuclear pore complexes. *PLoS Biol.*, 7:e8.
- Starnes L, Sorrentino A, Pelosi E, Ballarino M, Morsilli O, Biffoni M, Santoro S, Felli N, Castelli G, De Marchis ML, Mastroberardino G, Gabbianelli M, Fatica A, **Bozzoni** I, Nervi C, Peschle C (2009). NFI-A directs the fate of hematopoietic progenitors to the erythroid or granulocytic lineage and controls -globin and G-CSF receptor expression. *Blood*, 114:1753-63.
- Tyagi A, Ryme J, Brodin D, Ostlund Farrants AK, **Visa N** (2009). SWI/SNF associates with nascent pre-mRNPs and regulates alternative pre-mRNA processing. *PLoS Genet*. May;5(5):e1000470.

2008

- Decourty L, Saveanu C, Zemam K, Hantraye F, Frachon E, Rousselle, JC, Fromont-Racine M, **Jacquier A** (2008). Linking functionally related genes by sensitive and quantitative characterisation of genetic interaction profiles. *Proc. Natl Acad Sci USA*, 105:5821-6.
- Garcia-Rubio M, Chavez S, Huertas P, Tous C, Jimeno S, Luna R, **Aguilera A (2008).** Different physiological relevance of yeast THO/TREX subunits in gene expression and genome integrity. *Mol. Genet. Genomics.* 279:123-32.
- Milligan L, Decourty L, Saveanu C, Rappsilber J, Ceulemans H, Jacquier A, Tollervey D (2008). A yeast exosome cofactor, Mpp6, functions in RNA surveillance and in the degradation of noncoding RNA transcripts. *Mol. Cell. Biol*, 28:5446-57.

3.2 The role of translational silencing complexes and mRNA degradation factors in RNA localisation in flies and mammals (CRP II)

Principal Investigators

Michael A Kiebler (Project Leader) Medical University of Vienna, Austria Gunter Meister Max-Planck Institute, Munich-Martinsried, Germany Daniel St Johnston University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Funding Organisations

Austria: Fonds zur Förderung der wissenschaftlichen Forschung in Österreich (FWF) Max-Planck-Gesellschaft: (MPG) United Kingdom: Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BBSRC)

Translational control of localised mRNAs is a common mechanism for regulating protein expression in specific cellular subdomains which plays an important role in axes formation, asymmetric cell division, cell motility, and neuronal synaptic plasticity. Localised mRNAs are usually transported in RNPs and are thought to be translationally repressed until the RNA reaches its final destination.

This CRP started with a very exploratory and provocative hypothesis suggesting that RNA localisation, mRNA degradation and miRNA-mediated translational silencing might be intimately linked. This was partly based on recent high profile work indicating that RNA granules at the structural and functional levels interact with somatic P-bodies and that miRNAs are not required for mRNA localisation in the Drosophila oocyte. However, initial work found that neuronal RNA granules are clearly separated from P-bodies and much more dynamic and heterogeneous than previously anticipated. Additionally, the St Johnston lab showed that the assumption that miRNAs do not affect mRNA localisation in Drosophila was incorrect. Unexpectedly, these mutants were found to disrupt mRNA localisation through an indirect pathway.

Confronted with this new information, the hypothesis for this CRP was modified to one indicating that RNA localisation involves dynamic and heterogeneous RNA granules in both *Drosophila* embryos and mammalian neurons. The work to investigate this hypothesis involved two strategies. First, using time-lapse videomicroscopy in *Drosophila* embryos, the St Johnston lab succeeded in elucidating the underlying mechanism of *osk* and *bicoid* RNA transport. This work demonstrated that whereas osk mRNA particles have a slight but significant bias towards the posterior, the *bicoid* mRNA particles do not show a comparable bias to the anterior. This discovery led the Kiebler lab to evaluate whether transport of dendritically localised mRNAs, e.g. β -*actin*, *CaMKII*a, are more comparable to the *osk* or the *bicoid* mRNA particles in neurons.

Using a modified MS2 system in mammalian neurons, transport of the *CaMKII* α and β -*actin* mRNA we did not find a biased walk, but we identified different transport velocities of anti-retrograde versus retrograde transport along bi-directional microtubules in dendrites. Furthermore, our results strongly suggest that RNA granules are not just mere P-bodies or polar granules, but rather very dynamic and heterogeneous structures that might transiently interact with some selective proteins, previously considered to be robust P-body markers.

A second major finding in this CRP was the discovery that mammalian Ago proteins are subject to phosphorylation and that synaptic activity critically affects phosphorylation of Y529 in Ago2, thereby yielding rapid disassembly (possibly degradation) of Ago2 particles in dendrites at the synapse. This suggests a mechanism for regulation of RNAi function in primary neurons and at the activated synapse. It is therefore currently being investigated whether Ago proteins are degraded upon synaptic activity and whether this may affect miRNA-mediated translational control at synapses thereby contributing to the molecular and morphological reorganisation of synapses during synaptic plasticity. Although the cascade of events downstream of neural depression that lead to modifications of Ago2 are largely unknown, we have identified for the first time a correlation between activity and the function and stability of a major component of the RNAi pathway, thus opening a new and exciting line of research.

In summary, the collaborative research within this CRP has provided detailed insight into how RNA localisation, mRNA degradation and miRNA-mediated translational silencing might possibly be linked. Clearly, RNA granules are not just P-bodies (or polar granules in *Drosophila*), but much more dynamic and heterogeneous than previously anticipated. However, we are very excited about this dynamic and interesting link. We are currently exploring future funding possibilities for our team outside the European framework to continue and foster our collaborative efforts, whether this will be future ESF or HFSP networks.

Selected Publications

Submitted

- Mikl M, Vendra G, and **Kiebler MA.** Independent regulation and localisation of *MAP2*, *CaMKII* α and β -actin RNAs in low copy numbers. Submitted.
- Rüdel S, Wang Y, Lenobel R, Körner R, Hsiao HH, Urlaub U, Patel D, **Meister G.** Phosphorylation of human Argonaute proteins affects small RNA binding. Under revision.

• 2010

- Dölken L, Malterer G, Erhard F, Kothe S, Friedel CC, Suffert G, Marcinowski L, Motsch N, Barth S, Beitzinger M, Lieber D, Bailer SM, Hoffmann R, Ruzsics Z, Kremmer E, Pfeffer S, Zimmer R, Koszinowski UH, Grässer F, Meister G, Haas J (2010). Systematic analysis of viral and cellular microRNA targets in cells latently infected with human gamma-herpes viruses by RISC immunoprecipitation assay. Cell Host Microbe, 7:24-34.
- Ender C and **Meister G** (2010). Argonaute proteins at a glance. *J. Cell Science*, 123:1819-23.
- Mikl M, Vendra G, Doyle M and **Kiebler MA** (2010). RNA localisation in neurite morphogenesis and synaptic regulation – current evidence and novel approaches (Review). *Journal of Comparative Physiology – A (sensory, neural, behavioral physiology),* 196:321-34.
- Tuebing F, Vendra G, Mikl M, Macchi P, Thomas S, Kiebler MA (2010). Dendritically localised transcripts are sorted into distinct RNPs that display fast directional motility along dendrites of hippocampal neurons. J. Neurosci. 30:4160-70.
- Vessey JP, Schoderböck L, Gingl E, Luzi E, Riefler J, Di Leva F, Karra D, Thomas S, **Kiebler MA**, Macchi P (2010). Mammalian Pumilio2 regulates dendrite morphogenesis and synaptic function. *PNAS*, 107:3222-7.

• 2009

- Konecna A, Heraud JE, Schoderboeck L, Raposo AA, **Kiebler MA** (2009). What are the roles of microRNAs at the mammalian synapse? *Neurosci. Lett.* 4; 466(2):63-8. Epub 2009 Jun 21.
- Weinmann L, Höck J, Ivacevic T, Ohrt T, Mütze J, Schwille P, Kremmer E, Benes V, Urlaub H, Meister G (2009). Importin 8 is a gene silencing factor that targets argonaute proteins to distinct mRNAs. *Cell*, 136:496-507.
- Zeitelhofer M, Vessey JP, Thomas S, **Kiebler M**, Dahm R. (2009). Transfection of cultured primary neurons via nucleofection. *Curr. Protoc. Neurosci.* Apr; Chapter 4, Unit 4.32.
- Zeitelhofer M, Karra D, Vessey JP, Jaskic E, Macchi P, Thomas S, Riefler J, **Kiebler M**, Dahm R. (2009). Highefficiency transfection of short hairpin RNAs-encoding plasmids into primary hippocampal neurons. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 87:289-300.

2008

- Ender C, Krek A, Friedländer MR, Beitzinger M, Weinmann L, Chen W, Pfeffer S, Rajewsky N, **Meister G** (2008). A human snoRNA with microRNA-like functions. *Mol. Cell*, 32:519-28.
- Höck J. and **Meister G** (2008) The Argonaute protein family. *Genome Biology*, 9:210.
- Zimyanin VL, Belaya K, Pecreaux J, Gilchrist MJ, Clark A, Davis I, **St Johnston D** (2008). In vivo imaging of *osk* mRNA transport reveals the mechanism of posterior localisation. *Cell*, 134:843-53.

3.3 Functional and structural dissection of mechanisms targeting the exosome to cryptic and aberrant RNAs (CRP III)

Principal Investigators

Bertrand Séraphin (Project Leader) CGM – CNRS, Gif-sur-Yvette, France Carol Robinson University of Cambridge, United Kingdom Andrzej Dziembowski Warsaw University, Poland Patrice Vachette (Co-PI) University Paris-Sud, France Helen Saibil Birkbeck College, London, United Kingdom

Funding Organisations

France: Centre national de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS)

Poland: Ministerstwo Nauki i Szkolnictwa Wyższego **UK:** Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BBSRC)

The exosome has been implicated in most decay pathways involved in the removal of aberrant and nonfunctional RNA molecules. Those include elimination of Cryptic Unstable Transcripts (CUTs), aberrant tRNAs, nonspliced pre-mRNA as well as some snRNAs and rRNAs in the nucleus. In the cytoplasm, the exosome has been show to degrade non-functional mRNAs containing a premature stop codon (NMD), those lacking a stop codon (NSD) or those provoking ribosome stalling (no-go decay). The exosome thus plays a central and essential role in the control of RNA quality.

The exosome consists of a core unit assembled from 10 different proteins to which nuclear and cytoplasmic specific subunits are associated. A key requirement for the exosome is its accurate targetting and degradation of aberrant RNAs without attacking functional



Figure 3. Structural representation of the eukaryotic exosome with colour labelling of different active sites. Courtesy H. Saibil.

RNA molecules. Some of this discriminatory capacity results in part from the action of factors that will bind and/or modify biologically relevant substrates and target them to degradation. Such factors include the Trf/Air poly(A) polymerase and Mtr4 DEAD box helicase in the nucleus and the Ski7 GTpase and Ski2/3/8 complex in the cytoplasm.

Despite a good understanding of the main players in exosome degradation, structural and mechanistic data explaining how this machinery operates to selectively degrade aberrant RNA in the nucleus and cytoplasm of eukaryotic cells are still lacking.

The main novel and original scientific outputs from this CRP involved:

- Identification of endonucleolytic activity within the exosome. The eukaryotic exosome was until then thought to be active only as an exonuclease.
- Structure of the yeast apo and RNA-bound exosome complexes by cryo-electron microscopy defining the path of the substrate RNA. In the substrate-bound structure, extra density representing the RNA is visible at the entry site of the exosome channel. At the exit site of the channel, the cryo-EM map suggests a prominent domain movement in Rrp44 that probably serves to position the nucleic acid inside the channel. These data indicate a substrate-threading mechanism via the central channel of the eukaryotic exosome.
- Analysis of the role of Hbs1-Dom34 factors implicated in the NGD and NRD RNA quality control pathways that implicate exosome-dependent RNA degradation. SAXS analyses and functional assays in vivo complemented an X-ray structure obtained by a group outside the CRP.

These results involved for each case, collaboration within and between the participating CRPs.

Selected Publications

- Kafasla P, Morgner N, Pöyry TAA, Curry S, Robinson CV, Jackson, RJ (2009). Polypyrimidine tract binding protein stabilises the encephalomyocarditis virus IRES structure via binding multiple sites in a unique orientation. *Molecular Cell*, 34:556-68.
- Kafasla P, Morgner, N, **Robinson CV**, Jackson RJ. Polypyrimidine tract binding protein stimulates the poliovirus IRES by modulating eIF4G binding. Submitted.
- Hélène M, Topf M, Clare DK, Ebert Ju, Bonneau F, Basquin J, Drazkowska K, Tomecki R, Dziembowski A, Conti E, Saibil HR, Lorentzen E. Cryo-EM structures of the yeast exosome in the unbound and RNA-bound conformations. Submitted.
- Tomecki R and **Dziembowski** A. Novel endoribonucleases as central players in the general pathways of eukaryotic RNA metabolism. **RNA**, in press
- Tomecki R, Kristiansen M, Lykke-Andersen S, Chlebowski A, Larsen KM, Szczesny RJ, Drazkowska K, Pastula A, Andersen JS, Stepien PP, **Dziembowski A, Jensen TH**. The human core exosome interacts with differentially localised processive RNases: hDIS3 and hDIS3L. *EMBO J.*, in press
- Tomecki R, Drazkowska K and **Dziembowski A** (2010). Mechanisms of RNA degradation by the eukaryotic exosome. **Chembiochem**. 11:938-45.
- Gas-Lopez, M. and **Séraphin**, **B**. Twins take the job. *EMBO J*. Submitted.
- van den Elzen AMG, Henri J, Lazar N, Gas-Lopez M, Durand D, Lacroute F, van Tilbeurgh H, **Séraphin B,** Graille M. Structural and functional dissection of the Dom34-Hbs1 complex reveals independent functions in NGD and NRD. Submitted.
- Lebreton A and **Séraphin B** (2008). Exosome-mediated quality control: substrate recruitment and molecular activity. **BBA – Gene Regulatory Mechanisms,** 1779, 558-65.
- Lebreton A, Tomecki R, **Dziembowski A**, **Séraphin B** (2008). Endonucleolytic RNA cleavage by a eukaryotic exosome. *Nature,* 456:993-6.
- Lorentzen E, Basquin J, Tomecki R, **Dziembowski A**, Conti E (2008). Structure of the active subunit of the yeast exosome core, Rrp44: diverse modes of substrate recruitment in the RNase II nuclease family. *Mol. Cell*, 29:717-28.
- Lorentzen E, **Dziembowski A,** Lindner D, Séraphin B, Conti E (2007). RNA channelling by the archaeal exosome. *EMBO Rep.* 8, pp. 470-76.

Networking and Dissemination activities are key characteristics of any EUROCORES Programme including RNAQuality. For the EUROCORES scheme, the aim of adding these is to facilitate and encourage scientific collaboration and diffusion of information within and across the participating Collaborative Research Projects (CRPs). Networking activities are therefore very flexible and can be tailored by the collaborating scientists to fit the needs of a particular scientific community. Dissemination activities are likewise also very flexible and are intended to facilitate communication about the programme to non-participating but related scientific communities as well as to society as a whole.

Networking activities

Collaborative networking activities aim at bringing together scientists from all scientific domains of the EUROCORES programme in order to facilitate general interaction, and to discuss, plan and implement future collaboration.

Typical examples of these activities are:

- Working group meetings, seminars, workshops, symposia, conferences
- Summer Schools
- Training programmes and specialised courses (graduate-level and continuing-education)
- Exchange visits.

Dissemination activities

Dissemination within a EUROCORES programme serves the purpose of raising awareness of and diffusing the results of the programme. These activities may include:

- Leaflets, posters, publications, books, exhibition booth at conferences
- Organising programme-relevant scientific sessions at larger conferences (when the EUROCORES programme is not directly involved in the conference as a main or co-organiser of the event)
- Dissemination of travel grants to support an active participation at conferences (organised outside the EUROCORES programme), while promoting the EUROCORES scheme in general and disseminating the achievements of the programme in particular.

This section provides an overview of the main networking and dissemination activities of the RNAQuality programme.

• Mini-Symposium on RNAbiogenesis and Quality Control, 18 September 2007, Aarhus University, Denmark

RNA biogenesis and quality control has recently emerged as an important field of research. Surprisingly, eukaryotic cells degrade the majority of RNA produced, and a considerable portion of discarded species are rejected by quality control machineries. The importance of such control is exemplified by studies reporting clinical manifestations of failure to execute adequate RNA surveillance. At the symposium, both structural and functional aspects of RNA biogenesis and quality control were addressed; as was the issue in both procaryotic and eukaryotic cells.

The aim of this initial symposium was to provide an efficient platform for establishing collaborations across the participating CRPs within the RNAQuality programme, and moreover, to establish links to laboratories within the related EuroDYNA EUROCORES programme. The meeting was attended by approximately 200 people: Students and postdocs from the participating laboratories as well as interested employees from Danish universities. Scientific issues as well as possibilities for mobility between laboratories were discussed.

The symposium brought together participants from two different CRPs within the RNAQuality programme as well as Dr David Shore from the EuroDYNA programme. In addition, four external experts were invited as keynote speakers.

• RNAQuality First Conference, 11-13 June 2008, Granada, Spain

The initial steps to organise this first RNAQuality conference were taken during the programme kick-off meeting in Strasbourg, France on the 11 May 2007. Here, the three CRP Project Coordinators, Bertrand Séraphin, Torben Heick Jensen and Michael Kiebler, met with ESF



Figure 4. The Alhambra, Granada, Spain

programme officers to discuss future networking possibilities. The consensus was that a first conference should help bridge the diverse topics represented within the three collaborating teams: RNA quality control with a special emphasis on the exosome on one hand and RNA localisation and translational control on the other.

The conference brought together participants from all three CRPs of the RNAQuality programme. In addition, 15 external experts representing the different topics of the programme attended as speakers. The symposium was attended by 52 scientists ranging from early career students and postdocs to world-renowned international experts. From an RNAQuality standpoint, the conference achieved several key goals. First, it facilitated new collaborations across individual CRPs within the RNAQuality programme. Second, it helped map the current status of both the RNA quality and RNA localisation fields; where are the respective fields and what are the urgent open questions?

The following four major sessions took place:

- 1. Quality control of nascent RNA Polymerase II transcripts.
- 2. mRNA quality control pathways.
- 3. Structural organisation of quality control players.
- 4. RNA localisation and translation.

The small format of the conference (52 scientists) provided ideal conditions for networking and exchange of ideas. Young students and postdocs got acquainted, explored common territories and had a chance to meet more experienced scientists. Plenary lectures from the leading Principal Investigators (Pls) provided general overviews of the collaborating areas, which led to open discussion and exchange. Overall, this conference was the initial success which helped frame the remainder of the programme. Press releases available at http://www.esf.org/rnaquality

• PhD Summer School on Structure and Function of mRNP, 4-8 August 2008, Aarhus University, Denmark

The summer school was attended by approximately 30 PhD students and post docs – all affiliated to the leading RNA/RNP laboratories in Europe, Australia and Russia. The structure of the workshop was based on scientific discussions; i.e. the lecturers of the day would give an introductory presentation of the session topic after which a lively discussion would start. All students had previously received original papers and reviews on the respective topics and, to secure a high academic level in the discussion, students had prepared at least five questions per lecture. This precaution proved absolutely unnecessary and after only few minutes of lecturing all teachers engaged in lively and high quality conversa-



tions with the students, and there was a clear impression that all parties enjoyed the straightforward and frank exchange of ideas/information.

Some lectures were methodologically based (Séraphin, Carmo-Fonseca, Kiebler, Andersen, Brodersen) and others rooted in scientific concepts (Moore, Visa, Jensen, Jankowsky). It appeared that both versions were well received by the student participants. To finalise each day, the two lecturers would give an afternoon talk on a timely practical project from their laboratory.

The summer school was generally perceived as a key success of the programme, which helped further strengthen the personal and scientific bonds between scientists of the programme.

• Workshop RNAQuality 2009, 13-15 May 2009, Gif-sur-Yvette, France

Within this three-day workshop every group from the RNAQuality EUROCORES was encouraged to contribute with their hottest stories from the laboratory. To extend this in an inclusive manner to encompass the integrated view of European research on eukaryotic mRNA quality control, four external groups were invited (Edouard Bertrand from Montpellier, Oliver Muhlemann from Bern, Françoise Stutz from Geneve, Saverio Brogna from Birmingham).

A total of 57 people attended this meeting with a perfect mix of approximately 25% of PIs and 75% of PhD students and postdocs. On average, each PI came with two or three students/postdocs.

The workshop included 20 presentations by either a PI or student/postdoc. The talks were grouped into small sessions covering the following topics:

- coupling of pre-mRNA synthesis and processing
- mRNP modelling and transport

- RNA decay including action and targets of the exosome
- nonsense-mediated mRNA decay
- short and long non-coding RNAs.

All discussions were based on the oral presentations. Every lab had a 40-minute slot with 30 minutes of presentation and 10 minutes for discussion. These long talks were appreciated by the participants as they provided enough time for an introduction and experimental approaches as well as for discussion of novel ideas. All sessions were chaired by students from different groups, which helped to introduce them to the community.

• RNAQuality Students' Workshop, 29-30 April 2010, Strasbourg, France

The idea behind this networking activity was to organise a workshop that would give an opportunity to PhD students and postdocs from related fields (RNA quality) to present and discuss their work in progress. This goal was well met: during the day and a half, 21 out of 25 participating students and postdocs presented their work in oral presentations of 20 minutes. Another aim of the meeting was for the participants, in the absence of Pls, to engage in low-threshold 10-minute discussions following each talk.

In summary, the student workshop was very successful, which was also confirmed by the positive feedback from participants. A student workshop is a good way to provide a platform for students and postdocs to present their work, and especially for recently starting students to obtain some experience in doing so. Moreover it is a good way for students and postdocs to learn about what other labs in their field are working on.



Figure 6. Participants of the workshop



Figure 7. View of Vienna, Austria

• RNAQuality Control Final Conference, 10-13 May 2010, Vienna, Austria

It has long been recognised that damaged or improperly folded proteins are quickly targeted for degradation. In contrast, it has only recently become clear that defective mRNAs are also actively directed for rapid degradation. During the running time for the RNAQuality programme, new discoveries within this and related fields have furthered our understanding considerably.

Given the increasing insight and interest from diverse scientific areas of RNA-related research, the coordinators of the RNAQuality programme proposed to organise a final workshop/conference on this topic. In order to broaden the scope and interest, the workshop was established in collaboration between EMBO and ESF. The resulting EMBO-ESF workshop was held in Vienna from 10 to 13 May 2010.

Thirty speakers were invited to present their work at the workshop. Speakers were chosen to represent as much as possible within the dynamic research area. Their distribution by continent of origin and male/female distribution is detailed in Table 1.

Table	1. 8	Speakers	bv	aender	and	continent
		poundero	~,	90.100.		00110110110

	Female	Male
Europe	8	13
USA/Canada	2	5
Asia	0	1

Due to organisational constraints (housing, meals) and to maintain a meeting size allowing a maximum of contact and discussion between participants, a total of 65 applicants were selected from 110 received applications.

Attendees ranged from PhD students to PIs and included many postdoctoral trainees. Further, three participants were editors of scientific journals (*The EMBO Journal, Nature and Nature Cell Biology review/ Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*) underlining major interest in this area.

It was a considerable strength of the meeting to integrate attendees from different fields that usually do not attend the same events. The limited size of the meeting together with sufficient time apart from the oral presentations gave opportunities for students and postdocs to approach and interact with PIs.

• RNAQuality Control workshop, 1-2 October 2010, Châteaux de la Loire, France

The workshop accommodated a total of 50 students and 10 PIs including invited speakers (Gregers R. Andersen (Aarhus), Sabine Ruedel (Gunter Meister lab, Regensburg) and Maria Gas-Lopez (Bertrand Séraphin lab, Strasbourg). The workshop consisted of plenary talks by the invited keynote speakers as well as 30 short talks by selected students. The topics discussed included the latest developments in the field of RNA quality control. Different biological systems ranging from yeast to mammals were included as well as presentations of cutting edge high throughput approaches applied to the studies of RNA quality.

Meetings programmes and more details are available at www.esf.org/rnaquality

During the RNAQuality networking phase, two different ESF science activities have had specific relevance to this EUROCORES programme. These are the Forward Look entitled: 'RNA World: a new frontier in biomedical research' and the research networking programme (RNP) on frontiers of functional genomics (FFG).

5.1 RNA World: a new frontier in biomedical research

This Forward Look integrated scientists from several EC projects including the RIGHT, SIROCCO, FOSRAK programmes as well as from the RNAQuality EUROCORES programme and the Frontiers for Functional Genomics RNP. The science areas addressed involved careful analyses of future developments in subfields of the RNA world ranging from basic science on RNA quality, bacterial sRNAs and eukaryotic microRNAs, to the pathology of pre-mRNA splicing and the potential of RNA interference for the treatment of a variety of diseases including cancer and infectious diseases.

The scientific report '*RNA World – a new frontier in biomedical research*' was published in September 2010 following approval by the EMRC and LESC standing committees. The report was based on three thematic workshops and a final consensus conference that took place between December 2007 and February 2009. The outcomes from each of the three thematic workshops



were discussed during the final consensus conference and led to the identification of the following nine strategic priority areas for RNA research:

1. Construction of an RNA expression atlas

- 2. Epigenetics
- 3. RNA in bacterial infections and pathogenesis
- 4. Alternative RNA splicing
- 5. Structural and functional characterisation
- 6. RNA structure and molecular dynamics
- 7. Visualisation of RNA localisation and transport
- 8.Development and delivery of RNA therapeutics
- 9. Application of RNA modifiers in the food industry

The final report can be downloaded at: http://www.esf.org/publications/forward-looks.html



5.2 Frontiers of Functional Genomics (FFG)

This programme follows the very successful programme Integrated Approaches to Functional Genomics. The FFG programme is supported by science and medical research councils as well as academies in 17 participating European countries and is overseen by a steering committee consisting of a representative from each country.

5. Related ESF Activities

The objectives for the FFG programme are to connect the most promising developments in functional genomics technologies with the expanding concept of systems biology, focusing particularly on applications in biomedicine, as well as the environment and implications for society at large.

- The FFG programme areas are:
- Emerging Technologies
 - advanced array technologies
 - nanotechnology: single cell and single molecule analysis
 - RNA interference: gene knockdown for functional genomics
- Bioinformatics and Systems Biology
 bioinformatic aspects of systems biology
 computational systems biology
- Functional Genomics and Biomedicine
 - epigenetics, epigenomics and cancer
 - neurogenomics and disease
 - metabolomics
 - pharmacogenomics
 - predictive, preventive and personalised medicine
- Environmental Functional Genomics
 - metagenomics
 - biodegradation by microbial populations
- Functional Genomics and Society
 - public dissemination of functional genomics and disease
 - social welfare, risks and ethics
 - biobanking and populations
 - fostering economic development by technology transfer

The programme promotes interaction between scientists from these research areas through sponsoring of workshops, training courses, conferences and grants for short-term interlaboratory visits.

For further information on this programme, please see: www.esf.org/ffg or http://www.functionalgenomics.org. uk/sections/programme/index.htm The RNAQuality programme has been widely perceived as being a very successful enterprise both by the participants and in the judgement of an international panel of independent assessors. All CRPs demonstrated very high levels of engagement and a genuine exchange of personnel, technology and knowledge. For collaborative efforts such as these to be deemed successful they must demonstrate that the whole, in terms of outcomes, is greater than the sum of the parts and in all three CRPs this seems to be the case and there can be no doubt about the scientific excellence of the majority of the outputs. Success is demonstrated on an initial level by the large number of high quality publications in major international journals that ultimately has to be the main objective measure of success. Many of these publications were achieved by the joint efforts of laboratories within individual CRPs offering clear evidence of synergies that are difficult to achieve without an appropriate research network structure such as EUROCORES. Additionally, other publications resulted from the joint efforts of laboratories from distinct CRPs.

A major strength of the programme's activities that has emerged is one of multidisciplinarity, achieved through the use of a wide range of experimental methodologies and organisms. Such broad approaches cannot be undertaken by individual researchers and require an organised research network strategy.

The key focus on networking activities within the programme offered exciting opportunities for younger scientist to participate in the network through exchange visits. A particular highlight was the meeting in Strasbourg, which was organised by and for young researchers that, as well as providing a great instrument for training was a clear benefit to the whole consortium. In addition a number of international scientific meetings, workshops and summer schools were organised through the RNAQuality programme, perhaps more than can be reasonably expected from a programme of this size. These culminated in spring 2010 with a meeting sponsored jointly with EMBO. Through these efforts the participants have excelled in terms of dissemination and, as judged by external reviewers, the research has acquired visibility throughout the European research community and beyond. These forms of exchange are critical to cementing the success of the funding for future developments but also allowed significant levels of technology transfer that further enhance the future proofing of the funding.

A number of specific scientific highlights are noted below and the review panel acknowledge that a significant number of outputs are still pending, mainly due to the time constraints of the scheme.

- 1. New, world-leading discoveries related to the structure and function of the exosome.
- 2. The extension of studies of cryptic and unstable RNAs (PROMPTS) in the nucleus.

- 3. Connecting RNA interference, RNA degradation and mRNA transport to neuronal cell function.
- 4. The first identification of phospho-regulation of components of the RISC complex.

More generally, a number of further suggestions are listed below:

Recommendations

- 1. Continued and increased emphasis on providing access for graduate students and postdocs to advanced technologies.
- ESF should identify the fields in which Europe is/could be leading the scientific research by bringing together excellent scientists.
- Projects should not scientifically copy the EU and national funding. They should be unique for innovative and 'out of the box' proposals.
- 4. As the panel acknowledged that larger CRPs were more productive, a minimum size of four people is recommended which should include at least one PI within the first five years of independent research.
- 5. ESF should be more pro-active in disseminating information pertaining to Calls and their outcomes, and these efforts should involve the national funding agencies.

Published by the European Science Foundation December 2010 ISBN: 978-2-918428-31-2



1 quai Lezay-Marnésia | BP 90015 67080 Strasbourg cedex | France Tel: +33 (0)3 88 76 71 00 | Fax: +33 (0)3 88 37 05 32 www.esf.org